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Wednesday, September 21, 2016

--- On commencing at 9:58 a.m.


MR. RICHLER:  Good morning, everyone.  This is the technical conference for Brantford Power Inc.'s application for 2017 electricity rates, Board file number EB-2016-0058.


My name is Ian Richler, and I am counsel with the Ontario Energy Board.  With me from OEB Staff is Martha McOuat, the case manager.


A quick reminder that this technical conference is being transcribed and the transcription will form part of the record of the proceeding.  For the benefit of the reporter and for everyone else, please be sure to speak into the microphone.  When you press the button, the green light will come on.


Also a reminder that, pursuant to procedural order number 1, the purpose of this technical conference is:

"To clarify any matters arising from the interrogatories only."

Finally, we do have this room on hold for tomorrow in case we need it, but maybe we will be able to conclude today.


Now that that is all out of the way, we can proceed with appearances.  Mr. Sidlofsky, would you like to go first?
Appearances:


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good morning.  Thank you.  James Sidlofsky, counsel to Brantford Power, and I'll introduce the Brantford Power witnesses in just a couple of minutes when we finish appearances.


MR. RICHLER:  Thank you.


MR. AIKEN:  Randy Aiken, consultant for Energy Probe Research Foundation.


MR. HARPER:  Bill Harper, consultant for VECC.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.


MR. GARNER:  Mark Garner, consultant for VECC also.


MR. RICHLER:  Mr. Sidlofsky, would you like to go ahead and introduce the witness, panel please.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I would.  Thank you.  From my far left, I will begin with Brian D'Amboise, chief financial officer and VP, corporate services for Brantford Power.  To his right, Oana Stefan, senior regulatory analyst for Brantford Power.  Moving along, Paul Kwasnik, CEO and president; Mark Simpson, VP of operations and engineering; Susan Tulloch, VP, customer service and conservation; and finally, to my immediate left, Sanjay Iyengar, manager of systems, projects, and business applications for Brantford Power, and they would be pleased to answer questions from Board Staff and intervenors today.

BRANTFORD POWER INC. - PANEL 1

Brian D'Amboise

Oana Stefan

Paul Kwasnik

Mark Simpson

Susan Tulloch

Sanjay Iyengar


MR. RICHLER:  Thank you, Mr. Sidlofsky.

Who would like to go first?


MR. AIKEN:  I think we have agreed that we would go exhibit by exhibit, try and keep everything together that way.


So I had filed a number of questions, and I just want to go through them.  You provided responses to some of them.  I'm going to skip my first question and go to technical conference question number 2 first, which you have provided a response to.  And in that response, I had asked why the 300-and-some-thousand-dollar increase in revenue or what that was driven by, and the response you provided indicated that the increase was about 169,000, and so my first question is:  Why does a revised revenue-requirement work form have a different starting point in your initial application?


MS. STEFAN:  So there was an error in the revenue-requirement work form that was filed September 14th, specifically on that -- the tab with the tracking, the first line, the initial application and the statistics are incorrect.  They don't reflect the initial application correctly.


MR. AIKEN:  And that's not just for the revenue.  There are some other line items as well that are different; is that correct?


MS. STEFAN:  That's correct, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay, so then back to the response to part (a).  You say:

"The difference is related to the changes as per response."

So 3-VECC-57, and when I look at that, you've changed the forecast for basically the responses to VECC 21 and VECC 22 all related to the CDM, right, in addition to your updated forecast.  Those were the three changes?


MS. STEFAN:  I believe that's correct, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  And part (b), you acknowledge that you have to update for the GDP and heating and cooling degree days for this -- this is the six-month actual update for 2016.


My question is:  How are you going to update the CDM variable for six months of actuals?


MS. STEFAN:  I don't think we were intending to make an update to the CDM variable.


MR. AIKEN:  Now, are you going to file the spreadsheet with the updated information?  And I think there is a VECC question that talks about another error in CDM that you are going to update?


MS. STEFAN:  We plan to file it.  However, I should say upfront that our consultant for the models is unavailable right now to review them, so ahead of -- ahead of filing them we prefer to have him review and have his input, and he will only be available on Monday.  So that's part of the reason for the delay in responding.


MR. AIKEN:  So will you agree that it should -- it will be filed by end of day on Monday?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Aiken, I think what we can say is that -- sorry, Mr. Bacon is out of the country right now.  Ms. Stefan has been in communication with him.  My understanding is that he will be looking at it as soon as he can when he comes back.  I'm not sure that Brantford can commit to end of day Monday, but we'll file it as soon as possible at the beginning of next week.


MS. McOUAT:  Do you want an undertaking number for that?


MR. AIKEN:  Sure, might as well.


MS. McOUAT:  Okay.  So that's JT1.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1:  TO FILE AN UPDATED LOAD FORECAST AND TO ADDRESS THE QUESTION OF THE 2015 CDM.


MS. STEFAN:  So the undertaking, just to clarify, is going to be to file an updated model, and with respect to the CDM variable, just to clarify, we are not expecting to update it; is that correct?


MR. AIKEN:  Well, I thought, in one of the VECC responses, you indicated that the CDM variable needed to be updated.  Maybe, Bill, you can follow up.


MR. HARPER:  I think what you were saying was there -- Bill Harper, in response to Mr. Aiken's earlier question.  You weren't going to be trying to include actuals for CDM for six months of 2016.


MS. STEFAN:  That's correct.


MR. HARPER:  But I think the response to the technical conference question we had, which was VECC 58, I think you acknowledged that there was a need to update the historical CDM values for 2011 to 2013.  And that would be part of the update you would be doing for next week?


MS. STEFAN:  That's correct, yeah.


MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.


Now, I'm going to leave the part (c) of that question.  When I come back to my technical conference question number 1 later on -- because it is all involved in the revenue-requirement work form.


So moving on to my question number 3.  I'm not sure I understand the response.  In 1 Energy Probe 2 you talk about the additional revenue that would be reflected for 2016 and '17 as noted in the response to Part b.  And you say you:

"...will not be providing services for affiliates related to the FIS in 2016.  There are no revenues for 2016."


That part I understand.  What I don't understand is the next sentence:

"BPI has not yet estimated the allocation to affiliates related to new systems for 2017."


Can you explain that?


MR. D'AMBOISE:  Yes, what we were referring to is, I believe elsewhere we acknowledge in an answer to another question -- the number escapes me right now -- about the fact that part of the allocated cost to the affiliates should include essentially a portion of -- to be fully allocated requires a portion of depreciation and return in taxes and so forth in accordance with the procedures handbook requirements.


When we filed the original application we had at that time not identified any capital cost that would be related to the FIS initiative in Brantford Power.  Following the negotiations with the provider, there turned out to be a capital component and the answer here was just saying we haven't got to the point of actually calculating the adders relating to those other elements, because there is an element of capital expenditures in BPI's project.


So the issue is we have not included that component and we will endeavour to update that.  We just didn't have a chance to calculate it.


MR. AIKEN:  The response you might have been referring to is maybe to 3 Energy Probe technical conference question number 8, which is on page 14 of 37 of the PDF file.


I had asked there about why there is no entries in accounts 4375 and 4380 for the non-CDM, and that's because basically your costs match your revenues.  But the revenues that we're just talking about, they would show up on 4375 and there would be no corresponding 4380 cost, is that correct?


MR. D'AMBOISE:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Question number 4 is fine; I have no follow-up on that.  So that leaves me, under Exhibit 1, going back to my very first question.


This is related to the response of 1-Staff-1 and the revised revenue requirement work form, and you can see in there I'd listed a number of things that I couldn't follow or didn't understand.


This is probably best done through an undertaking, and that undertaking would be to file an updated revised revenue requirement work form that, first of all, has the same initial application numbers in it as your initial application.  And secondly, fills in all the sheet like the load forecast and the rate impact, and whatever else Board Staff has added to it.


Then a key point is on the tracking sheet, which was virtually -- I have to say, virtually impossible to follow what the changes related to.  It’s put in the interrogatory responses so we can see where these changes are coming from.  Then for things like the "building removal", I have a separate sheet that shows the changes in OM&A, the changes in rate base that flow into these numbers that are in here, things like the working capital allowance change because of the change in OM&A.


And on the cost of power adjustments line -- well, let me just concentrate on -- to give you an example, on the working capital line, under the building removal change line, there's an increase of 4.9 million.  I have no idea where that 4.9 million would come from.  And then the cost of power, 2.3 million, I may have an idea there because your load forecast has gone up.  But I'm not sure if the 2.3 should be 2.3 plus 4.9 for the cost of power change and maybe 40,000 for the building change, you know, 7 percent difference on the OM&A. 


So can you wrap that up into one undertaking and provide an updated, revised revenue requirement work form that shows interrogatory responses that are related to these changes, and provide some detail in the calculation of the changes?


MS. STEFAN:   We can provide that.  Sorry, we will probably have to provide separately any additional information that wouldn't be included in these sheets, because we sometimes have trouble adding tabs.  But I'll undertake to provide that.


MR. AIKEN:  Sure, that's fine.


MS. McOUAT:   That's JT2.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT2:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATED, REVISED REVENUE REQUIREMENT WORK FORM THAT SHOWS INTERROGATORY RESPONSES THAT ARE RELATED TO THESE CHANGES, AND PROVIDE SOME DETAIL IN THE CALCULATION OF THE CHANGES

MR. GARNER:   May I interject?  It is Mark Garner for VECC, just because I want to understand if the undertaking will solve my problem because I wasn't quite sure if this is where Mr. Aiken was getting to.


Leaving aside the changes that happened in the interrogatories, as Mr. Aiken pointed out, there were changes that happened in the original sheet, right, and the difference, as I understand it, was your original deficiency went from 2.6 million to 2.8 million somehow in that adjustment; there is about 200,000, roughly.


Now, I wasn't clear if your -- if what was being asked and what you will respond to will track that change, too, so that we can actually find out why that number actually changed and where.


Is that what you were, Mr. Aiken, also trying to have them do, put in --


MR. AIKEN:  No, my understanding was that the 2.8 million and the new starting point was just wrong.  It's still the 2.6 that, you know, the revenues -- the wrong revenues got put in, you know.  Some of the interest on debt, return on equity were wrong numbers.


The original application was fine --


MR. GARNER:  Oh, I see.  So what you're -- the problem I’m having the original application is still the correct application.  It was in this revision as the incorrect starting point; is that what happened?


MS. STEFAN:   So the original application is fine.  The revenue requirement work form where the statistics were identified -- so throughout the revenue requirement work form, but specifically I understand we're focusing on tab 14, the tracking sheets.  That seems to be a lot of what the questions are referring to.


The statistics for the initial application in that work form did not accurately reflect the initial application.


MR. GARNER:   I think I understand now.  It took me a little longer than Mr. Aiken, but I think I understand now what happened.  Thank you.


MR. AIKEN:  So just to confirm then, the undertaking would cover all the questions I had in my question 1, and I think part (c) to question 2.


I think those were all my questions on Exhibit 1.


No, sorry – yes, it was.  So if anybody else -- we've lost Mark.


MR. RICHLER:  Any of the other intervenors have questions on this exhibit?  Hearing none, shall we move on to the next topic?

EXHIBIT 2

Questions by Mr. Aiken:


MR. AIKEN:  Exhibit 2, rate base, by TCQ number 5, there is – the response is fine; I understand that.


Number 6; in part (c), you've replaced the Dalhousie project with two other projects.  Can you provide the forecast of costs for each those projects?  These are both 2017 projects, is that correct -- or 2016 projects, rather.


MR. SIMPSON:  Correct, those are 2016 projects.  I believe we can provide the forecasted costs.


MS. McOUAT:   So that's JT .3.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT3:  TO PROVIDE THE FORECAST OF COSTS FOR THE TWO OTHER PROJECTS IN 6C 


MR. AIKEN:  And that was my only questions on rate base.


MR. RICHLER:  Do any of the other intervenors have questions on this topic?

Questions by Mr. Garner:


MR. GARNER:   First of all, it is Mark Garner for VECC.  Thank you for the answers to the responses -- to the questions we put in previously, and I'm happy with those.


I just wanted to generally get a feel from the utility on something, because I'm a little bit now confused given that you've withdrawn the building project.  But this is a broader and a more general question, and I know you have it in evidence; perhaps you can just remind me.


When I look at your forecast capital expenditures, and it's basically fairly even from 2013 through to 2017.  But then there's a big bump in general plant in 2018 to 4. -- 4.5 million.  And I was trying to figure out what that bump in capital was -- was for.  Do you recall?


MR. SIMPSON:  So the -- you're asking the question:  The bump in general plant capital projects in 2018?


MR. GARNER:  Correct.


MR. SIMPSON:  So we have forecasted in 2018 a capital contribution to be paid to Hydro One Networks Inc. for a project that is being -- that is in the process of being planned.  And it was forecast originally to be in-service in 2018, so any capital contribution that Brantford Power would be making to that would have been in the 2018 fiscal year.


We've since learned two things.  The first is there won't be in-service until 2019 at the earliest, and the second one is, is that Hydro One Networks has identified to the three LDCs connected or impacted by this that the project should be a network pooled asset, and therefore they do not expect us to have to make any capital contribution.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  So just to clarify, this -- is this the Brant TS?


MR. SIMPSON:  That is correct.


MR. GARNER:  So that number may not come to fruition now because you are not expecting actually to have to make a contribution.  Is that what you're saying?


MR. SIMPSON:  That is correct, and that was information that was received while we were processing the interrogatory responses.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you.   That's very helpful.


Could you then also confirm that in -- there were no capital costs in '17 through '21 that you were forecasting related to the building that was going in in '16?


MR. SIMPSON:  That would be correct.  We expected that -- in preparing the application we expected that the building would be complete -- would be in-service in 2016 and that there were no further capital costs.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you.


Now, with respect to the building, you've withdrawn it from the application, but what I read was you intend to proceed -- you still intend to proceed with a building, but now you intend to do it -- get approval for the cost consequences by an ICM application; is that correct?


MR. KWASNIK:  Yes, that's correct, that we could be coming to the Board with a -- in the future with an application pertaining to a new facility.


MR. GARNER:  And do you have any idea when that would happen?


MR. KWASNIK:  We have a need to have a consolidated facility, so we'd like to advance as quickly as possible, but it's really contingent on negotiations and finding the appropriate spot.


MR. GARNER:  So can you remind me what is responsible for the delay that's happening right now?


MR. KWASNIK:  The market forces that we are encountering in terms of availability of space and negotiations with people that want to sell.


MR. GARNER:  I see.  But remind me.  I thought you had found an option and found a space and that you were just in the middle of that negotiation.  Is -- you're saying is that just negotiation that hasn't come to completion?  Is that what it's all about?


MR. KWASNIK:  We have not landed on a firm deal for a facility.


MR. GARNER:  Right.  Okay.  Thank you.


Just bear with me for one minute and I'll make sure that's it.


There is one other thing, and I can't recall -- you responded to the question in technical questions -- I can't recall the number, but basically the question was around trying to find metrics based on defective equipment outage, and I think you responded "we don't collect metrics that way".


Maybe you can help me.  One of the things we are interested in with capital programs and in order to see results is to measure defective equipment outages and the change in it after capital programs.


Can you just explain to me what you do or what you don't do on measuring defective equipment outages in order to understand the efficacy of your capital program?


MR. SIMPSON:  Today, Brantford Power only really has the capability of measuring that an outage was due to defective equipment or any of the other eight types of outage.


We don't have sufficient capability to measure the exact "why", and I think from the actual number of outages that we do experience, while they are significant to our customers, in number of count they are likely -- they are not a large number.


MR. GARNER:  So they don't feed into, in any way, into your asset assessment, because there is really not a big enough population of them to add that much information; is that right?


MR. SIMPSON:  At the moment, our asset assessment program works based on inspection of existing equipment, so we don't have -- we currently haven't really put a feedback mechanism into it that would account for something like a particular lot of a particular class of equipment being subject to, you know, a deferred -- or a short life span type defective issues.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  I think those are my questions for now.  Thank you.


MR. RICHLER:  Any other questions on this exhibit?

Questions by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I do.  Sorry, it's Mark Rubenstein.


I was just wondering, since -- so -- well, let me start off with respect to the building, and you said that you may be applying for an ICM at some future time to recover the cost consequences of that.


When you say you don't know when, and hopefully sooner than later, are we talking -- are you seeking to recover that amount -- are we talking the 27 year, to recover the amount in the 27 year, are we talking -- 2017 year?  Are we talking about to recover the amount maybe in the 2018 year?  I just want to understand what we're talking about, when the building will be in...


MR. KWASNIK:  So currently, the building's not in the application...  Apologies.  Currently, the building is not in the application to be reflected in 2017 rates, so going forward, depending on what facility we end up proceeding with, we would likely be in as early in 2018 as possible, if not sometime in 2017, and then coming before the Board thereafter.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the earliest that you will be seeking to have the cost consequences of any new building that you build would be 2018?


MS. STEFAN:  I think at this time we don't want to limit our options, so depending on the timing of occupancy we will see what options are available to us at that time.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, you are seeking rates for 2017, so I'm trying to understand if at some point you are going to come back and say we need more for 2017 versus we need more -- we want 28 -- we want some additional amount than we could normally get under the IRM framework for 2018, and that's the distinction I want to make.


So I'm going to ask you again.


MR. KWASNIK:  I guess the answer still stands that to limit ourselves with an answer today depending on the outcome is something that we're not a hundred percent clear on right now.  We'll be coming to the Board as soon as possible and providing the same amount of due diligence and evidence as we did on our application at this time.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And obviously the Board will deal with any application when that comes, but understand from my perspective we are setting rates for 2017, we're dealing with your capital budget, and then you are seeking additional money for 2017 after this that obviously is a problem for us.


MR. KWASNIK:  I understand.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The second question that I had with respect to -- yes, this was with 2 Energy Probe technical conference 6, that was -- and in part (c), you talked about how you were removing a certain material capital project, but it has essentially been replaced.  And then you list the two projects, the Golden Avenue infrastructure relocation and the Oak Park Road.  Do you see that?


MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm wondering if you could refile -- because that now you've shifted capital projects between years, if you could refile the appendix 2AA and the appendix 2AB, which I believe is the five -- if I'm having this, someone can correct me, but it is the five-year capital project -- capital table broken down into the main categories.


MS. STEFAN:   Just to clarify, to update specifically for 2 Energy Probe TCQ 6?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  I mean, if there are other capital project changes that you are seeking to reflect in this application, we’d obviously include those as well.


MS. STEFAN:   We can take that undertaking.


MS. McOUAT:   That is J .4.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT4:  TO UPDATE 2 ENERGY PROBE TCQ 6 WITH CAPITAL PROJECT CHANGES


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Those are my questions on this exhibit.


MR. RICHLER:  Any other questions on this exhibit, or should we move on to the next one?

EXHIBIT 3

Questions by Mr. Aiken:


MR. AIKEN:  Moving on to Exhibit 3, my technical conference question number 7, I understand the difference in the other revenue is strictly related to the building rental revenue that you obviously won't be renting until you have a building.  So that's fine. 


Number 8 we talked about before and that's fine.


Number 9; is it your evidence some place that the forecast for your 2016 field collection charges that you've updated to 189,930?


I was really looking for how much you increased the forecast by, and I wasn’t sure whether the original number was in the evidence somewhere.


MS. STEFAN:   So just to clarify, we're talking about the updated forecast for which year?


MR. AIKEN:  For 2016.  The 189,930 that’s referenced in part (a) of the question, what was the original forecast for 2016?


Or have I got that wrong?  Is the 189,930 the original forecast?  Because in part (b), I asked for the updated forecast in 2016 and I didn't see that in the response.  You said that BPI did not update its forecast for 2017. 


In fact, yes, when I go back and look at the original response, 3-Energy Probe-30, the 189,930 is your year-to-date actuals for June 2016.  So my question is, what was your original forecast for 2016 for the whole year, and what is your updated forecast for 2016 for the whole year?


MS. STEFAN:   I think that's something we might be able to provide you after a short break, if that's okay.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.


MS. STEFAN:   I do think the 189,930 reflects the June 2016 year-to-date actual number, so it is not an updated full year forecast.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes, okay.


MS. McOUAT:   Do you need an undertaking number for that, or are you just going to do it during break?


MS. STEFAN:   We'll check it during break.  I’m confident we can have it.


MS. McOUAT:   And then we'll talk about it then.


MR. AIKEN:  Then moving on to the responses to parts (c) and (d), and I think I understand part of the response to part (d), but my question is:  What is what you referred to -- I'm looking for the -- yes, what is your definition of invested working capital.


MR. D'AMBOISE:  We were looking at the definition of current assets less current liabilities, that net position, and if we look at our actual balance sheet, it is considerably greater than the deemed working capital level that falls out of the rate base calculation. 


So, I think our premise was that the fact that we have excess investments in that area, much of which is cash, that to credit and offset revenue for cash that is essentially not being -- is an excess resource that is not being compensated because of the working capital allowance framework, that it is not appropriate to do it that way. 


So in lieu of trying to reconcile back to some hypothetical cash number that, you know, should represent an offset revenue, we have defaulted on the basis that -- let's assume for the sake of this calculation that the full value of the deemed working capital is in fact cash, and we've notionally suggested providing an offset revenue on that basis, meaning that any excess working capital contribution over and above that level, if turned out to be cash, would not have resulted in a shared offset revenue.


MR. AIKEN:  I think that's where I'm getting confused, because if you go back to the response to 3-Energy Probe-30, you show the calculation of your interest and it is based on your opening and closing bank balances.


MR. D’AMBOISE:  Right.


MR. AIKEN:  So you have an average of $8 million in the bank and you say, well, the allowance for working capital is -- in your updated response is 9.6 million.


MR. D'AMBOISE:  Yes, I think the issue for us is that because we had anticipated funding a portion of the new building with cash, so then our cash levels would have declined somewhat, and with the removal of the building -- and one of the reasons we didn't answer part (c) was that we haven't finished those calculations is to -- we're expecting that the cash level will be higher than the working capital level that's being...


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  So my question is:  Would you undertake to indicate what your new average bank balance is in 3 Energy Probe 30, given the removal of the building?


MR. D'AMBOISE:  Yes, we can do that.


MS. McOUAT:   That's JT5.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT5:  TO INDICATE THE NEW AVERAGE BANK BALANCE IS IN 3-ENERGY PROBE-30, GIVEN THE REMOVAL OF THE BUILDING


MR. AIKEN:  I think those are all my questions on Exhibit 3, because we covered some of them actually in Exhibit 1 in terms of the new spreadsheet you will be filing.


MR. RICHLER:  Any other questions on Exhibit 3?

Questions by Mr. Harper:


MR. HARPER:   Yes, I had a few to do.  In fairness, from the questions Mr. Aiken was asking you also with the load forecast model --


MR. HARPER:  Yes, it is.  Maybe I’ll pull it closer and see if that helps. 


I guess in -- turning to VECC technical conference pre-filed question number 54 which we filed -- maybe a bit of background.  My understanding is that your load forecast model includes a negative impact variable, which is effectively the cumulative impact of CDM in each of the historical years.


MS. STEFAN:   Sorry, is that a question?  Yes.


MR. HARPER:   Yes, it is.  And that your forecast for 2016 and 2017 using the revised load forecast model basically assumed a -- that that variable basically reflected the cumulative impact up to and including the 2015 CDM programs.


MS. STEFAN:  I would prefer to just check that to make the answer 100 percent certain.


MR. HARPER:  Well, maybe while you're looking at it, what my issue was and the question was that it seemed that the load forecast model itself through the explanatory variables was including the full impact of the 2015 CDM programs, and then in the subsequent manual adjustment you made a manual adjustment for half of the 2015 CDM programs, so it seemed like there was some double-counting going on there, and I was just wanting to confirm whether or not you agreed with that, and if yes, perhaps that would be reflected in the updated load forecast, and if not, why not, I guess is -- that is where I was going to at the end of the day.


MS. STEFAN:  This is subject matter that we would normally be referring to our consultant to for additional assistance.  So if we can take an undertaking to get back to you on that.


MR. HARPER:  Maybe, Martha, was there not an undertaking with respect to providing the load forecast, the updated load forecast?


Maybe if we could just include, as part of addressing that, if you could maybe address the specific issue as well as part of that updated load forecast, because in updating it you will either acknowledge there was an issue and agree and update accordingly, you'll say, "No, we don't agree there is an issue and why," and that could be included as part of the overall update?


MS. STEFAN:  That's --


MR. HARPER:  In the same undertaking?


MS. McOUAT:  [Speaking off-mic]  And that was JT1 -- I think that was the first one we talked about.


MS. STEFAN:  We can do that.


MR. HARPER:  Okay.  That would be great.  I think you've answered VECC 55 for me.


If I could go to VECC 56, and this was dealing with the question that Ms. -- the area Mr. Aiken was asking about, which was the field collection charges, and you said you'd updated the 2016 anticipated revenues and you were going to provide the sort of -- the old and new numbers after the break, and I guess the question we'd asked in VECC 56 was that, had you made any changes to the 2017 forecast for field collection charges, and you said, no, you hadn't been asked.


Then you went on to explain a little bit better:

"In addition, BPI notes there has been a recent measure to address electricity affordability which are expected to have an impact on the number of field collections."


Which I assume would be your rationale for not updating -- for not updating an increase in the 2017 value; is that correct?


MS. STEFAN:  So while that's not -- the rationale is what was originally -- what's said in the first part of the interrogatory.  However, we're just noting that as additional -- and as an additional note.


MR. HARPER:  Right.  Because I guess your first sentence was basically saying, "Staff only asked us to update 2016, so that's all we updated."


MS. STEFAN:  That's right.


MR. HARPER:  And I guess the -- sorry, my follow-up to that was, well, if 2016 is higher is there any reason why 2017 wouldn't be higher as well, and I take your second sentence there as your explanation as to why 2017 wouldn't be higher.


MS. STEFAN:  That is an explanation, yes.


MR. HARPER:  And maybe you could just explain more, because it says "the recent measure to address electricity affordability, which are expected to have an impact".  Could you just explain to me what those measures are and why you expect they will have an impact?


It is a little bit vague here in terms of the rationale, so if you could just explain a little bit more, that would be great.


MR. D'AMBOISE:  Yeah, I think we're referring to the speech from the throne announcement with respect to some additional rate relief to customers, that obviously these circumstances arise when customers aren't able to pay their bill, and to the extent some relief has been provided one would expect that there would be some positive impacts of those measures.


To actually quantify them, it is very speculative, for sure.


MR. HARPER:  Okay.  Fine.  I think -- Randy, do you have any follow-up on that?


MR. AIKEN:  Yes, with your field collections, are any of those related to non-residential customers?


MS. TULLOCH:  I believe that is correct, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  And do you agree that the measure announced, the removal of the 8 percent provincial portion of the HST, has no impact on costs to non-residential customers, since they now just have a smaller input tax credit to claim?


MR. KWASNIK:  So I don't know if you want to speculate on the total effectiveness of all the measures that have been announced, but obviously it is going to affect customers and what the bottom line of their bill is and affect their monthly budgets, so, you know, that's what we anticipate, but the future will tell as to whether people see a benefit.


MR. AIKEN:  All right.


MR. HARPER:  Okay.  Just going through sort of the other questions we had, I think your written responses to VECC 57 is okay, and VECC 58 we've talked about already earlier.


I just wondered if we have got to VECC 59, in terms -- this has to do with the number and the change in number of connections related to streetlights, and as I understand that sort of the most recent information you have is that as of September 2016 you had 5,767 connections and 10,118 streetlight devices?


MR. SIMPSON:  That is correct.


MR. HARPER:  Now, I noticed in the cost allocation and sort of model that you filed, you are still using a value of 9,770 devices for 2017.  In that model also -- so I was wondering whether there were any plans to -- because actually it is the number of devices that's critical for cost allocation, not the number of connections, and so whether there is any plan to revise the number of devices in the cost allocation to reflect this new updated information that you have?


MS. STEFAN:  We do plan to reflect the update in the change.  This is, as you indicated, a number that we've come to in September.  So that's part of the explanation why it was kept constant previously.


Additionally, I just want to make sure for the record -- I'm not sure if I heard incorrectly, but the number of connections from the interrogatory was 6,351 connections.


MR. HARPER:  That was the old -- that was the original number you'd used in --


MS. STEFAN:  Oh.


MR. HARPER:  -- you'd used originally, and I thought the response --


MS. STEFAN:  My mistake.


MR. HARPER:  -- you've given here had a new number of connections of 5,767 as of September 2016?


MS. STEFAN:  My mistake.  I'm sorry.


MR. HARPER:  Okay.  Fine.  That's fine.  Okay.  Well, we'll wait to see what your -- and will that update be available prior to the settlement conference next week in terms of the updated cost allocation?


MS. STEFAN:  Again, we are aiming to have that updated prior to the settlement conference.  Absolutely.


Again, cost allocation is one of the areas where we would be relying on our consultant for some input.


MR. HARPER:  Okay, fine, thank you very much.


MS. McOUAT:  [Speaking off-mic]  So that's a separate undertaking?


MS. STEFAN:  Okay.


MS. McOUAT:  [Speaking off-mic]  JT6.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT6:  TO PROVIDE COST ALLOCATION WITH LOAD FORECAST AND STREETLIGHT INFORMATION.


MS. STEFAN:  And I suppose, to clarify, we will be providing a cost allocation with any load forecast as well as the streetlight --


MR. HARPER:  Right.  So obviously you have to update the load forecast and then -- before you can update the cost allocation.


MS. STEFAN:  Mm-hmm.


MR. HARPER:  And my last question was VECC 60, and this had to do with the LRAM VA baseline you're proposing as part of your 2017 CDM.  This ties into CDM load forecast as well.


Is this something we should pursue now, or is this something you would prefer to have some sort of -- discuss with your consultant when he returns next week?

MS. STEFAN:   It is something -- because it goes hand in hand, I suppose, with the manual adjustment, it is something that we would prefer to provide later.


MR. HARPER:   Okay, so maybe -- and I can give it as a separate undertaking or part of that original JT --


MS. McOUAT:   Six.


MR. HARPER:   I’m sorry, Martha, I can’t remember which number it was, the one dealing -- I think it was the very first one, if this is something that you could maybe provide as part of that -- a response to this as well as part of that first undertaking, where you're talking about the update to the load forecast, that would be great.


MS. STEFAN:   We can do that.


MR. HARPER:   Those are all the questions that I have on Exhibit 3.


MR. RICHLER:  Thank you.  Any other questions on Exhibit 3?  If not, Mr. Aiken, would you like to move on to Exhibit 4?

EXHIBIT 4

Questions by Mr. Aiken:


MR. AIKEN:  Yes, I'll do Exhibit 4.  My first question there is technical conference question number 10.


Now, when other utilities have come in with the smart meter costs included in their OM&A, they have always been for costs incurred before 2013 that were put in the deferral variance account and then cleared to OM&A in 2013.


But my understanding of what your response is here is that these expenses were incurred in 2013 and accounted for in 2013.


MR. D'AMBOISE:  Yes, I think the issue, if you will recall for our last proceeding, we were dealing with 2013 cost of service that we had filed late and it didn't actually come to resolution until the beginning of 2014.


And so between the date on which the 2013 test year numbers were originally put in cement as part of the application, the calendar kept passing us by, so to speak.  And so there were sort of a stub period between notionally where you would have had the '13, you know, drop-dead date when in fact the radar didn't come out until the spring of 2014.


So there were some -- these variance accounts, because they were not to be disposed of until the rate order was actually issued, were sort of in limbo as the calendar passed on by, so that when the rate order was in fact issued in the early 2014, that was the trigger to do the entries in 2014.  And to the extent there was a time lapse between a previous point in time, that's what resulted in these additional items.


MR. AIKEN:  So, for example, $362,000 of this cost was for amortization.  Was that amortization that --


MR. D'AMBOISE:  That's from day 1.  Basically, the deferral accounts were essentially held in abeyance pending -- up until the point of the rate order.


MR. AIKEN:  So day 1 is before the beginning of 2013?


MR. D'AMBOISE:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And then the 174,000, that was actually OM&A related cost and not depreciation.  Was some of that related to your OM&A cost from day 1?


MR. D'AMBOISE:  Yes.  Essentially, as we understand the accounting procedures handbook and direction on the smart meter accounting, basically everything ran through the variance accounts until such time as they were disposed, and so from the beginning of the smart metering program right effectively -- I can't remember if that rate order was March 1st, 2014.  Everything up to March 1st, 2014, went through the variance accounts. 


And so the fact that the 2013 cost of service was looking at -- I believe it would have been -- you know, the most recent audited balances, like there was that sort of limbo stage, as I called it, to the point of March '14.


So from our interpretation of the disposition in that rate order was that in 2014 was the point in time where we liquidated essentially those smart meter variance accounts.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes, but my question originally was for the 174,000, were those OM&A costs that were actually  incurred prior -- from day 1 up to the end of 2012?


MR. D'AMBOISE:  We can certainly take an undertaking taking to actually confirm that.  To my recollection, the answer would be yes, but we should confirm that.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  It was confusing me that when I read the response to 4 Energy Probe 33, it talks about the Board-approved OM&A costs were settled in February 2014, using November 2013 year-to-date actuals to project the cost for the remainder of the year.


Then it says:

"A 2013 actual OM&A cost included a credit of 174,035 representing Smart Meter operating costs that were will reallocated from OM&A to account 1555."


MR. D’AMBOISE:  So essentially, in the 2013 -- sorry, in 2014, what you would have had was your normal going forward OM&A related to smart metering program and the collapse of the accumulated OM&A and amortization, as the case could be, on the legacy from, say, whenever we started the smart metering to the point -- to that end.


So there’s the hybrid and, if I recall correctly, on one of those accounts we actually had a credit balance.  And so when we collapsed the variance, it offset -- so essentially, the 2014 actual numbers is a hybrid of normal ongoing OM&A for smart metering plus the closing out of the legacy from the deferral and variance.


MR. AIKEN:  Let me see try and summarize this and see if I’ve got it right.


These costs of $536,000 were OM&A and amortization costs incurred prior to 2013.  In your last rate case, they were removed from 2013 and put in the deferral account, the 170,000, and you recovered the amount starting in 2014, but for accounting purposes, you expense them as if happened in 2013 because that's what the Board instructed you to do.


MR. D'AMBOISE:  No, in fact, we expensed it in 2014. So as I recall the instructions, all activities related to Smart Metering were to run through the deferral and variance accounts up to the point of disposition.


So effectively on the OM&A in all those years, there would have been zero reflected in actual OM&A for smart metering related costs.  Following the rate order on the 2013 proceeding in early 2014, they said okay, it's time to dispose.  We accept your smart metering costs both the legacy OM&A plus the capital -- all the components and then at that point, they able get collapsed into the OM&A -- to the extent they are OM&A in 2014 -- or sorry, I guess 2014.


MR. AIKEN:  Well, that's not what your response though says.  At technical conference question number 10, part (b) and (c) both say that the depreciation and the OM&A were included in 2013 actual figures.


MR. D'AMBOISE:  They were in the sense that in landing on the final decision, because we were late in the proceeding, the actual costs were already known because the year had been substantially completed by the time we got to the end point.


But it is probably best to -- for us to go back and just actually confirm that.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  What I'm really asking for is this 500 and something some thousand included in your 2013 actual figures in Table 4-1 or 2014.


MS. McOUAT:   So it's JT7.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT7:  TO CLARIFY THE RESPONSE TO 4 ENERGY PROBE 33


MR. GARNER:   Sorry, it is Mark Garner, VECC.  Just to be clear, what that undertaking is going to show is the historical smart metering costs that were included in either and/or both 2013 and '14's OM&A?


MR. D'AMBOISE:  Right.


MR. GARNER:   Okay, thank you.


MR. AIKEN:  Question number 11 -- and this may just be an error in the response to 4 Energy Probe 31, but in the follow-up question I had asked about the $25,000 difference between what's in table 4, Energy Probe 38, and the revised revenue requirement work form as your initial application.


And the response was that the difference was due to leap in the amount of $25,000.  And the amount was not included in Table 4, EP-38, 4.1-A, but it was correctly include in the revenue requirement work form.


But when I go back to 4 Energy Probe 31, I asked if the property taxes and leap were included in table 4.1-A, and the response was:  "BPI confirms table 4.1-A includes costs associated with property taxes and leap."


So my question is:  Is that response wrong to Energy Probe 31, or is the response to question -- technical conference question number 11 wrong?  Because one of them has to be wrong, no matter how I look at it.

MS. STEFAN:  That might also be something we might be able to provide after a break.


MR. AIKEN:  After a break?  Okay.


Then in the response to Part B, this is the OM&A impact of the removal of the building.


So am I correct that your -- or, sorry, not only the removal of the building, but I'm going to ignore the CDM adjustment for now.


So there is $175,000 increase in your OM&A cost as part of the revised numbers, and that's driven mainly by a decrease of $400,000 for OM&A for the -- that you were projecting for the new building, but an increase of 581,000 for rental?  You rent these buildings, right, or two of them, anyways?


MR. D'AMBOISE:  It's essentially the reinstatement of the status quo facility costs with --


MR. AIKEN:  Now, do you have the historical facility costs that correspond to this number for the test year?  Have they been filed on the evidence someplace?  And if not, can you provide what these rental facilities adjustment -- or rental facilities costs were for 2012 through 2016?


MS. STEFAN:  I believe with the -- I believe it's Appendix 2N which outlines affiliate transactions.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.


MS. STEFAN:  And the facilities-related costs would have been included -- the historical facilities-related costs would be included there.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would all of the historical related costs, so those are the ones you're paying to affiliate, are their costs that you are incurring yourself?


MR. D'AMBOISE:  Given that that line would reflect all of the facility costs, I'm trying to think of some -- like, the substation costs.  Are those are on a separate line?  They're on distribution, I think.


MR. AIKEN:  Martha's about to pull it up here.


MS. McOUAT:  [Speaking off-mic]  So that's 2N, right?


MS. STEFAN:  Yes.  Oh, sorry.


MS. McOUAT:  [Speaking off-mic]  Allocation?


MS. STEFAN:  Yes.


MR. D'AMBOISE:  Certainly the -- if they are not 100 percent, they would certainly be the vast majority of them, because we do rent those three facilities.


MS. McOUAT:  [Speaking off-mic]  So rental of facilities, office space, rental of facilities, office warehouse vehicle storage?


MS. STEFAN:  That's right.


MS. McOUAT:  [Speaking off-mic]  That's 2013/'14.


MR. D'AMBOISE:  I think we'd like to confirm that, though, but certainly that gives you a head start, because that's where the majority of the costs are, but we'll go back and verify that there aren't any direct costs that we've incurred.


MS. McOUAT:  [Speaking off-mic]  Do you want to check that during the break, or is that an undertaking?


MR. D'AMBOISE:  Probably have to go back to our ledger, unless you feel comfortable...


MS. STEFAN:  We'll need an undertaking.


MR. D'AMBOISE:  Undertaking.


MR. AIKEN:  Then question 12, you've filed the PILS work form that I've requested.  And just to let you know why I requested that, you should read the Grimsby decision, where the Board essentially said that if you have actual tax losses you need to bring them forward for regulatory purposes.  I realize it doesn't affect your test-year number, but it -- that's a decision in the Grimsby case.


Question 13, yeah, that's fine, I understand that.


And then I'll jump to Exhibit 5, because I only had one question, and I don't have any follow-ups to your answer, so those are all my questions.


MR. RICHLER:  Were there any other questions on Exhibit 4?

Questions by Mr. Garner:


MR. GARNER:  Yeah.  Mark Garner, VECC.


I'm sorry, I'm sure this is understood by everybody but me, but in the 2016 original filing, the OM&A that I pulled from Appendix 2J, whatever it is in the Excel spreadsheets, was 10.99 million.  And in the 2016 updated same table, in that it's now 10.54.  That's about $442,000 difference, and why is that?


MS. STEFAN:  Sorry, could you repeat the question?


MR. GARNER:  Sure, if you look at the Chapter 2, Appendix 2, I think it's JA or -- it's the OM&A table.  2JA.  And I used those to create a table of my own, extracting from those to give me the OM&A numbers from 2016, your original filing, which I have as 10.99 million.  Updated filing, Chapter 2, you have now 10.546 million.  That difference is 442,000, and I'm wondering why those two numbers -- why those numbers are different.


Perhaps you could just look in it.  Maybe just an error in one of the tables, and it may be that in other tables in the evidence you haven't made that same adjustment, but I go from the Excel spreadsheets that you use in Chapter 2, and they seem to have changed.  Or I've made an error.  You can tell me that too.


MS. McOUAT:  [Speaking off-mic]  Do you want me to pull up the original as well?


MR. GARNER:  I'm sorry, Martha, I didn't hear you.


MS. McOUAT:  [Speaking off-mic]  Do you want me to pull up the original as well?  I have got the updated one here.


MR. AIKEN:  Isn't the difference based on 2016 actuals?


MR. GARNER:  That's what I was thinking.


MS. STEFAN:  Right, that's what we were just getting ready to answer with.  So in the interrogatories we were -- it was requested that we updated 2016 with 2016 year-to-date information and an updated forecast for 2016, so the differences should be related to those changes.  In terms of specific breakout of that amount, it would come from a number of different sources.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  I don't recall in the IR response.  Maybe Mr. Aiken does.  Did you explain that 442,000 in lower costs, why you are having lower OM&A costs?


MS. STEFAN:  I don't recall an explanation anywhere.  No.


MR. GARNER:  Perhaps you could give us one.


MS. STEFAN:  That will have to be an undertaking.


MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.


MS. McOUAT:  [Speaking off-mic]  JT9.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT9:  TO EXPLAIN THE LOWER OM&A COSTS.


MR. GARNER:  And just to add to that, I'm specifically interested in whether it's related to FTE deferments, et cetera, that you have planned but not -- have not done.  So if you -- while you're looking at it, if that's part of it, you could identify it, that would be helpful.


Now,  my next area, which again is just -- I just want to get -- this is not a question.  Thank you for the responses to the questions we gave in advance, so it's not one we gave in advance, but I want to get a better understanding of the FTE increases that went from 58 to 66 in the test year.  And I guess what I'd like to understand, first of all, is, as of where we are -- you are today, of that 66, for the test year it says, and for bridge 63, what's the actual number today at BPI?


MS. STEFAN:  I think I'm going to look for a bit of a clarification, just because when we're expressing things in number of FTEs, it's done on a full-year basis rather than a point in time.


MR. GARNER:  Uh-hmm.


MS. STEFAN:  So would you like the current head count?


MR. GARNER:  Yeah, that would be helpful.  Now, Board Staff had asked you -- just to follow up to that, Board Staff had asked but about, you know, the problem -- you also have a certain number of part-time things, and that's the other problem with FTEs:  They are full-time equivalents, not head counts.


What I'm trying to understand is how many -– let’s call it the head count now, what the head count is going from from Board-approved to 2017, what the company currently has employed and what are the numbers that are yet to be to be employed, so to speak, whether it is in the 2016 bridge year or whether it’s in 2017, so where you are right now.

When you do that -- and you may have to do this by undertaking -- I would appreciate if you could bring it back to showing how it relates to the FTEs.  Because what I'm really trying to understand is what's the full compensation increase related to new employees as compared to 2013 when the Board approved it.

So I'm really just trying to find that number that's going to tell me that that represents that increment related to new employees in the company.

MS. STEFAN:   We're still looking for a head count or FTE number, correct? 

MR. GARNER:  Well, both would be helpful and then what that dollar amount is for that increment.

Now, backing up, and maybe you can do this more generally because I'm not really -- I don't think I need it specifically, but in that head count from 58 to 66, speaking generally, can you tell us where the -- where the driving force for the number of FTEs is?  I think there is, for instance, some from CDM, which I don't believe end up in the revenue requirement for the utility, so you can tell about that, and then tell me basically where the rest of the increase is coming from in the utility, other than CDM.

It's really a more general question.  You have more people than you used to.  Why do you have more people than you used to, and who are they?

MR. KWASNIK:  Again, with appreciation of the general nature of the question, the key drivers in some of the additions that you’re seeing really are attributable to -- you identified that there was an additional conservation resource that is in there.  Your -- that the requirement for us to have a more robust communication and an agenda with relationship to customer engagement had us look at the requirement for a communications role, you look at -- there are some transitional roles that are in place in terms 
of -- with contracts with terms to help us facilitate the information technology projects that we're undertaking in the next -- in the future, so that a manager of business solutions and essentially an IT role to help guide us through those, and also resources to help us through the testing and the data clean-up and all the rest of the validation that goes on with the CIS build-out that we would require some additional resources in those areas.

So those are kind of the general touch points in advance of one as analysis.

MR. GARNER:   Thank you.  A follow up to that is -- I saw that in the evidence about these transitional roles related to IT, and then your proposal to amortize costs related to those roles.

Let me understand how that works.  You are going to have an IT person working in 2017, but your application amortizes their salary -- even though they are working for one year presumably, you are amortizing their salary over a number of years.  Is that how you are doing it?

MR. KWASNIK:  Yes, that’s correct.

MR. GARNER:   And is there just one or two roles like this that you're talking about?  I heard you talk about two.  Is there just…

MR. KWASNIK:  Specifically the business solutions role that I think you talked about?  There’s one.

MR. GARNER:   There’s just one.  So if I'm looking at this figure 58 to 66, so far all I've really heard is one permanent new role, which is communications. 

Is that -- inside the company, that’s all you've done?  Other than these transitional roles, you just have one permanent communications since 2013? 

MR. KWASNIK:  For the roles that you are speaking of right now, as I look at it, have terms to them.  But what the future of the utility might look like going forward might require resources as we mature and implement the solutions.  But they are all hired to allow for flexibility.

MR. GARNER:   So, so far out of the 8 -- and I know you’re looking into this, the 8 from 58 to 66 -- what I've written down is that there is one communications role that is incremental, there is one transitional role related to IT -- and I think that's all I have, right, those two roles?

MS. STEFAN:   So we have some others, and I think they are outlined in the variance analysis in the application.  So I can speak right now to the 2016 others, and there is an accounting clerk or a junior accountant which is to be hired in 2016, which will be an ongoing permanent role, correct?

MR. GARNER:   And that's not hired yet?

MR. D'AMBOISE:  Recruiting is underway right now.

MR. GARNER:   Recruiting is underway.  Thank you.

MS. STEFAN:   In operations, there is a new foreman Position.  That is a measure related to succession planning in 2016.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I just ask you a question?  You talked about the accountant.  Is this the financial analyst position?

MR. D'AMBOISE:  No, there essential was the junior accountant, which is part of the consolidation of the finance functions within BPI.  So was part of the new FIS system, we are bringing accounts payable in-house and so we've identified a junior accounting person, a junior accountant to take that role for BPI.

And the financial analyst had been identified as an additional resource for transitioning to FIS.  We have not filled that role yet, although as we get into the home stretch, we may need to supplement our resources to complete that project.

MR. GARNER:   Okay, I think that's all my questions.

MS. McOUAT:   Is there still an undertaking required there, more detailed?  Are you asking for dollars, the incremental dollars in the --


MR. GARNER:   There are the incremental dollars; that is certainly part of the undertaking.  And maybe to the utility I can read back what I've got down as an answer so far of the eight incremental roles.

There is an accounting clerk; not hired yet, but recruited for.

There is a financial analyst, not hired and yet still in the planning.  There is a transitional IT position.  There is one CDM positions, and that accounts for, I take it -- I have a count of five.

That accounts for five of the eight placements that are there, so I think there is still three that are yet unexplained.

MS. STEFAN:   So we have the foreman in operations in 2016.  We have a communications role.

MR. GARNER:   Oh, it's the communication role; that's the one I'm missing.  So that would be six, I think.  So we're just down to two.

If we can figure out those two, I think we don’t need the --


MS. STEFAN:   We have the manager of IT -- sorry, specifically manager, system projects and business applications.

MR. GARNER:   That's not -- just to be clear, that's not the transitional role, or is that the transitional role?

MS. STEFAN:   That is the transitional role.

MR. GARNER:   That’s the transitional role.  I have that one, yes.

MS. STEFAN:  We have the facilities manager.

MR. GARNER:   But that one is not in -- that one is going to be removed now, isn't it?

MS. STEFAN:   That is going to be removed now. However, it is explaining the jump -- part of the difference in the original application.


MR. GARNER:  But that one never made its way into the OM&A number, did it, in the original application?


MR. D'AMBOISE:  I think there was a portion.


MR. GARNER:  And was that --


MR. D'AMBOISE:  We were capitalizing some of it, but I think there was a portion --


MR. GARNER:  And when you did this adjustment, was that portion removed?


MR. D'AMBOISE:  Yes.


MR. GARNER:  So that was the other -- that position was in there, the manager of the building was in there.


MS. STEFAN:  So additionally there are some transitional roles in customer service.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  And are those roles the ones that were part-time and...


MS. STEFAN:  They are -- I don't believe they are part-time.  However, they're contract roles, so from that perspective they don't contribute a full FTE each.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  I think I have my list, and I think the only thing I don't have is the incremental dollar amount that is associated with the 2017 number, which, just to be clear, the manager was in that -- manager of facilities was in that number -- would Appendix 2K now for 2017 now be 65 instead of 66?


MS. STEFAN:  So Appendix 2K, we're looking at full compensation, regardless whether charged to capital or OM&A, so it would have been included -- the facilities would have been included in the figures provided.


MR. GARNER:  And you didn't remove it when you did the adjustment, so that --


MS. STEFAN:  No.


MR. GARNER:  -- because I think Appendix 2K stays the same, doesn't it?  So --


MS. STEFAN:  We did not do updates to it --


MR. GARNER:  So I would be correct to remove it if I was doing an apples-to-apples comparison.  It wouldn't be 66 any more, it would be 65, with the building out, so to speak?


MS. STEFAN:  I think we're confident with that one, yes.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you.


MS. McOUAT:  [Speaking off-mic]  So the remaining dollars you're still looking for --


MR. GARNER:  I think it is just the dollars we're looking for.


MS. McOUAT:  [Speaking off-mic]  JT10.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT10:  TO PROVIDE INFORMATION RE:  THE DOLLARS THAT ARE REPRESENTED BY THE INCREMENTAL COST OF EMPLOYEES AND/OR CONTRACT PEOPLE.


MS. McOUAT:  [Speaking off-mic]  Should we give these guys a bit of a break?


MS. STEFAN:  Can I just get some clarification still on the specific question for JT10?  So dollars...


MR. GARNER:  Yeah, it is the dollars that are represented by the incremental cost of employees, whether they be -- and/or contract people.  I'm not -- that are embedded or in that FTE increase between 2013, and in your cost driver you do have numbers related to adjustments for an increase in compensation, but it wasn't clear to me how those numbers represent the 58 to now 65, let's call it, how much -- you know, what that total number would be if I added the two cost driver numbers up or whether it is a different number, so my exercise I'm trying to do for my client here is to simply be able to clearly articulate the incremental employment at the utility and the incremental cost of that employment and then describe exactly what that employment was done for, and I think you've answered who the people are.  I think we have all that in evidence.  I am just missing that dollar figure.


MS. STEFAN:  All right.  Thank you.


MR. RICHLER:  So let's take a 15-minute break now.


MS. McOUAT:  [Speaking off-mic]  No, hang on one second, Mr. --


MR. RICHLER:  Oh.


MS. McOUAT:  [Speaking off-mic] -- because there were two things that they were going to check during the break.  How much time do you need to do that as well as have your 15 minutes?

Questions by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask a question before we go to break, because it is on the same issue and I don't want to -- it is about the FTEs, and if we can go to 4-SEC-21, we had asked you to provide essentially all the new positions and whatnot.


And I just want to understand which positions we've talked about and what you've not talked about, and what this IR response provides.


The question asked:

"For each new position created since 2014 please provide a full job description, justification for why the position is required."


I just want to understand -- reading this back, my question isn't exactly clear.  I just want to understand, what is the time frame that you've answered?  Is this all positions that would have been created by the time that you have -- and filled by the time that you answer this interrogatory, or is it through to the end of 2016, or is it through 'til the plan 2017?


MS. STEFAN:  Umm...  So with respect to the interrogatory, we attempted to answer it as asked, and I think the assumption made in the interrogatory response was to date rather than through to the forecast.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But -- so I thought that coming into today, but then in your response to Mr. Garner you talked about the manager system projects and business applications, which is the IT manager, I understand, you haven't filled yet?


MS. STEFAN:  We have.  Its right here.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Okay.  So maybe the best -- and I think this would help Mr. Garner's question -- is if you could provide the same -- if you could expand this response out to the end of 2017 and then just note -- give us a notation if they've been filled or -- and when -- and if they haven't been filled, when is your plan to fill them?


MS. McOUAT:  [Speaking off-mic]  Do you want that as part of 10 or do you want a separate one?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Probably best as a separate undertaking.  They can reference each other if need be.


MS. McOUAT:  [Speaking off-mic]  So that's JT11?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yep.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT11:  TO EXPAND THIS RESPONSE OUT TO THE END OF 2017 AND THEN GIVE A NOTATION IF THEY'VE BEEN FILLED AND IF THEY HAVEN'T BEEN FILLED, WHEN IS IT PLANNED TO FILL THEM.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then for the positions that you are planning to fill in 2017, outside of the IT, which is amortized over, are you projecting to fill them for the purposes of the revenue requirement, the costs are built in that they are going to be filled, someone is going to be there January 1st, or are you forecasting half year for a person that you are going to fill, that you expect to fill in, say, July?


MS. STEFAN:  So certainly the assumption during budgeting is not that the position is automatically filled as of January 1st, so Appendix 2K and the revenue requirement would reflect the salary depending on the expected start date of the -- for the position.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, and then back to the 2016 positions.  I assume you'll -- actually, your response will answer my question.


MS. STEFAN:  Okay.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thanks.


MR. RICHLER:  So I suppose now we could either take a short break and then come back and do an hour before lunch, or we could just break for an early lunch and give you time to gather the information you said you would look for.  Do you have a preference?


MR. KWASNIK:  Generally, we would press on.  Just to confirm where we are in the process right now, are we midstream in section 4, or we've completed section 4 and -- just give us an idea about what we can -- what we require in terms of time?


MR. RICHLER:  I'll ask the intervenors.  How much more have we got?


MR. AIKEN:  I've got no more.


MR. HARPER:  I don't have any more on Exhibit 4.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I have a single question.


MR. GARNER:  I have one single follow-up, but I don't think that'll take long, and then really after that my last section is 5, and I have a few questions there, but I suspect Mr. Aiken going first will cover almost all of them, if not all of them.


MR. AIKEN:  [Speaking off-mic]  Oh, no, I've asked mine.


MR. GARNER:  Oh, you've asked yours?  I have a couple on 5.


MS. McOUAT:  [Speaking off-mic]  Staff has some on 9, but that's two minutes.  I just have to...


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  What if we get the last couple of questions on Exhibit 4, finish that off, take the break so that Brantford can come back with the couple of things they said they would get back to people on the break, and then finish it off, and we probably don't need a lunch break.


MS. McOUAT:  [Speaking off-mic]  You are not going to eat?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, we can take that break when we're all finished.


MR. GARNER:  Yeah, I think that would work myself too, if --


MR. KWASNIK:  All right.  So let's press on.


MR. GARNER:  -- it works for Board Staff.  Sure.


So I only have one last question on section 4, and mostly because you were all here and make it easier for me to understand.


The CIS and FIS adjustments that were now being made, perhaps if someone here could speak to what exactly is going on and when it's now going to go on.  We did ask the questions about, what were the impacts of adjusting the CIS and FIS, and I think your response was: none, they’re still on track, and yet the evidence seems to say they’re not on track.


Can someone tell us -- in language I can understand, which is mono syllable --- about what is going on?


MR. IYENGAR:  So the FIS project is underway and is expected to go live by the end of December this year, December of 2016, and it is on track.  There are no delays anticipated at this point.


The CIS procurement was placed on hold, and that was the case at the point when we made the application and then the same holds good even now.


We have placed it on hold until we have completed the files procurement, so we can learn from the files procurement and apply those learns to the CIS procurement process.


And we have now picked it up -- since the first procurement is complete, we have now picked it up and we expect to move forward and issue the RFE, complete the procurement, and implement CIS by the end of 2017.  As we had originally planned in the rate application that was submitted, the same plan stays.


MR. GARNER:   When were you originally planning for the CIS procurement process to start and finish before you decided to hold off on it?  When was the original plan set up for? 


MR. IYENGAR:  We had earlier planned to issue it in late last year.  We had started drafting the RFE late last year in 2015, but we had -- since we are going through the FIS evaluation, we are close to selecting a vendor on that one and we had gone through a few stages in the selection process, we decided to put the CIS one on hold and so we can learn through the FIS process and apply those learnings.


MR. GARNER:  Now, you answered this, but just to make it clear, the FIS system, as I understand what you said, you are archiving all your old data set with the old system, is that right?  And then you are paying an ongoing fee with the City of Brantford in order to access that archived data of -- I think it was $6,000, or some relatively nominal amount.


MR. IYENGAR:  That is correct.  We are going to keep that data in the city's archive system.  We are not planning to move that over, and continue to have access for that as long as the regulatory requirements require us to.


MR. GARNER:   Okay.  Do you know how long that is, like how long you have to keep this archived data with them?  Do you know?


MR. D'AMBOISE:  We just came out with a record retention thing and I'm trying to remember what that was.


MR. GARNER:   Whatever the record retention is for that.


MR. D'AMBOISE:  I think it's seven years.  I think they started off with then, and they tailored it back a little bit, so somewhere around seven.


MR. GARNER:   Thank you.  That's it for me for -- thank you very much.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just had a follow-up to that with respect to the delay in the CIS system.


When was it planned to originally go live and now when is it going to go live?  I think your response is still 2017, but what are we talking about? 


MR. IYENGAR:  When we had issued an -- we had issued an RFI for both the CIS and FIS jointly, joint CIS and FIS, back in 2014.  And at that point, we had made the suggestion that we will do the FIS first.  Our intent was at that point we would do FIS sooner, and we thought it would have been 2015, early 2016. 


But that had got delayed and that's why the CIS plans had to wait until we completed the file.  So there was not a specific target date for CIS.  It just had to follow the FIS procurement process, and we wanted to complete that.  So that's why it would be -- we had put it on hold and it is going in 2017 and that's the plan right now.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And with the FIS, as I read it, you're still planning to go live in December? 


MR. IYENGAR:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And is that still -- you know, I'm always sceptical of December being a -- in the rate world, when things are going to go live.


Why do you still think -- why are you confident in December? 


MR. IYENGAR:  That has been our plan, to have all the system – all the system testing and training completed before the holidays, and be live on the system.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  My only last question is in 4-Staff-43, and we asked you the same question.  We'd asked you for the RFP and you provide – maybe I missed it.  It could potentially just be me.  You say that you've provided them as zip files.  I can't find those documents.


MS. STEFAN:   So I can maybe speak to that.  They were originally provided as zip files, but they had -- in order to upload them through the Board's filing system, we converted them to PDFs, so we converted the material in the zip files to PDF attachments.


I think there was one attachment that did not convert very nicely to PDF.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just so I -- they are on the web drawer in some form right now?


MS. STEFAN:   They should be, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, that was all.


MS. SZTEFAN:   They would be included with the main application body, not as a separate document. 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You mean as a -- within the IRR document?


MS. STEFAN:  That's right.  Thank you.


MS. McOUAT:   So I should be able to find them here.  Do you know what appendix they were?


MS. STEFAN:   I'm not -- no.  Short answer, no, not off the top of my head.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right, we can take this offline and figure out where the document is.  Thanks.


MS. McOUAT:   Is that it for Exhibit 4 then?  So we'll take a break.  How much time do you need to check those two things, do you think?


MS. STEFAN:   Just to be conservative, if we can take half an hour.


MS. McOUAT:   Is that okay with everybody?  So we'll come back at 12:05.


MS. STEFAN:   Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 11:36 a.m.

--- On resuming at 12:08 p.m.

MR. RICHLER:  Everyone ready?


First of all, Mr. Sidlofsky, does anyone from Brantford Power wish to speak to the matters that they said they would look into over the break?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Ms. Stefan will be speaking to those.


MS. STEFAN:  So with respect to field collection charges, the original forecast for revenues from field collection charges was 289,393.  The updated 2016 field collection charge forecast was 313,393, and the 189,930 figure represents, as discussed already, the June 2016 year-to-date amount.


Then with respect to the LEAP and the property taxes, instead of referring to interrogatory responses, I'm hoping this approach will be a little bit more clear.  So in Table 4.1-A, leap of $25,000 was not included.  In the total amount of 10,470,506, property taxes of $20,031 were included in the 10,470,506 in Table 4.1-A, and for greater clarity -- hopefully this helps -- total OM&A in the original application with leap and property tax, the figure is 10,495,506, total OM&A without leap and property tax, 10,450,475.


MR. RICHLER:  Thank you.  Unless there are any follow-up questions from any of the intervenors, I think we can move on.


We're on Exhibit 5.

EXHIBIT 5

Questions by Mr. Garner:


MR. GARNER:  I have, I think, only one question, and it may be in multiple parts.  It is to do with the affiliated debt.  And I'm going by memory, but I believe the response initially was that you didn't have a new promissory note, and we asked about that again, and you said, no, it was a new promissory note.


So what I'm trying to make sure I'm clear at with, is did BPI negotiate a new promissory note with the City and when was that negotiation completed?  That's the first fact I'd like to just get clear.


MR. D'AMBOISE:  Essentially it is an extension of the note, but it gets -- under the terms of the original note, the interest rate is updated every five years, and so we actually update the piece of paper that gets signed to reflect the fact that it has a revised interest rate, and if memory serves me correctly, that was done either in December of last year, or -- I believe we went to the Board in December of last year.


MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.  I thought, though, when I asked to see the original note, if there was a new -- it was original note -- you said, Oh, sorry, this is the new note.  I'm just trying to take a look here, but...


I guess --


MR. D'AMBOISE:  I think there was confusion because at the top there was a date that showed 2016, and I think that was selected by accident because that was the end of the old interest rate period.  And so the new note actually has a -- was it 2021, if memory serves correctly, as the next time the interest rate is renewed or reviewed.


MR. GARNER:  Where is the promissory note that articulates that this is a -- that this is to be renewed every five years?  I thought what you put into evidence was the renegotiation as you're saying for every five years.  That's a one-pager that says "here's the rate"; right?


MR. D'AMBOISE:  But the language of the note explicitly states that at the city's option they can extend the note at the time of interest rate refresh.


MR. GARNER:  Is that note in evidence?


MR. D'AMBOISE:  Yes.


MR. GARNER:  That's what I may have -- must have missed, because that's what I was looking for.  I'm looking for the original that actually says this is -- you know, "shall be renewed every five years".  Is that in the original amendment or --


MR. D'AMBOISE:  I believe so.


MR. GARNER:  -- part of the IR, because if it is I can find it, but just if you can confirm that...


MS. McOUAT:  Attachment 5A, Mark?  Is that the one --


MR. GARNER:  That's the one.  But I thought attachment 5A was just the one-pager, is it not?


MR. D'AMBOISE:  That's the note.


MS. STEFAN:  There is a further page.


MR. GARNER:  But that -- okay.  So again, now, I'm a little confused here.


MR. D'AMBOISE:  So there was the resolution, and then there was the note at the back, and towards the bottom of the note it indicates:

"This promissory note may at the option of the city be converted..."


Sorry, so I went...


MR. GARNER:  But that note is dated 2016.  Is that the one that's up on the screen?


MR. D'AMBOISE:  Yes, that's the one that was renewed this past January.


MR. GARNER:  Right.  And --


MR. D'AMBOISE:  For the subsequent five years.


MR. GARNER:  But that note -- I thought what you were saying was that note relies on an original document that allows renewals every five years.  This is a renegotiation.


MR. D'AMBOISE:  Essentially the original wording is exactly the same.  The only thing that changes from -- every five years is the interest rate.


MR. GARNER:  So why -- where in it -- where in it -- sorry, maybe -- where is it in this that says that --


MR. D'AMBOISE:  It's in the second paragraph, where it says:

"At the option of the city this note may be extended for successive periods of five years."


And so forth.  And so that would have been the original language and the original note.


MR. GARNER:  So you're saying that the agreement with -- between the utility and the City is ad infinitum?  There is no way for you to ever renegotiate this promissory note because it goes on at their discretion for five years and forever?


MR. D'AMBOISE:  And I believe that goes back to the original transfer by-law terms at the time the companies were created.


MR. GARNER:  Hmm.  Okay, and at the time this was done, this was -- you are saying this was negotiated at December of 2016, roughly at that time.  What was the going Infrastructure Ontario rate in place?  Do you know that?


MR. D'AMBOISE:  I think we had that one there.  I think we had that one written down.


3.89.  Yeah, it was 3.89.


MR. GARNER:  But you negotiated 4.20.


MR. D'AMBOISE:  No, we used the renewal terms that were in the prime plus one-and-a-half that was in the note, and just as a matter of reference, at the time we did this, Brantford Power was not eligible to participate with OLC.


MR. GARNER:  Sorry, why is that?


MR. D'AMBOISE:  Because of an issue with an affiliate, OLC had notified BPI that we would not be eligible to participate in their lending program.


MR. GARNER:  Is this the affiliate that is going into receivership or something to that effect?


MR. D'AMBOISE:  Yes, the one that had some challenges, yes.


MR. GARNER:  Challenges, yes.  Thank you.


Okay, thank you.  I'll have to think about that.  Thank you.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just one follow-up question:  So is it your understanding that essentially in perpetuity the City every five years can say you will have to continue to pay interest on this note at prime plus one-and-a-half?


MR. D'AMBOISE:  That's our understanding.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You could never pay it back and exit the arrangement?

MR. D'AMBOISE:  That's our understanding.

MR. GARNER:   I'm sorry, Mark Garner.  What I'm confused at with that answer is that it seems that every renewal period of five years, you a brand new note.  This doesn't say in respect to our agreement at a certain time in the past, this is what we're doing.  This looks like a brand new agreement; it doesn't reference anything else.

 So my question is:  Why would you sign it?  Would why wouldn't you say I'm not going to sign it, I'm about to go borrow my own money someplace?

MR. D'AMBOISE:  Certainly, in terms of the information that we have obtained from the get-go it is an extension, and again, they produce a new piece of paper to reflect the new interest rate period.  But all the other terms and conditions are essentially the same that they were at the beginning.

MR. GARNER:   But what are all those other terms and conditions?

MR. D'AMBOISE:  The ones you see, basically.  So again it’s being refreshed to reflect the new rate, but it is essentially the original agreement.

MR. GARNER:   Have you had your -- have you had legal counsel look at this note and discuss with you your options to terminate?

MR. D’AMBOISE:  No.

MR. GARNER:   And why not?

MR. D'AMBOISE:  That wasn't a consideration for to us think about.

MR. GARNER:   If you could get -- and I heard what you said about infrastructure Ontario.  But if you could borrow at a lower rate than this note contemplates, would it not be worth your effort to investigate how the note may be terminated?

MR. D'AMBOISE:  It could be.  I think one of the challenges that we have is because we have two lenders in the portfolio already, and we ran into that the last time we investigated borrowing, is that it gets into an issue over the sharing of security.  And because any lender would like to be in first place, that currently because we have RBC and OLC -- RBC is in first place and OLC, when we first dealt with them, accepted RBC's first place to the extent that they had outstanding credit facilities with us and they basically built into their arrangements that they had rights to any residual security.

 And to accomplish both of those, we needed to have the city note's subordinated in third place, so that those first two creditors had first dibs on security should something untoward occur with BPI.

One of the challenges that we will have, of course, is that to introduce a potentially other lender, even at the lower price, if that were too materialize would involve the difficult negotiations of how are you going to deal with security, given that any change in that would result in potentially a dilution of the existing lenders. So that would be the first problem.

 And the second problem is if you found the only way to do that was to liquidate the existing arrangements, our current Royal Bank facilities have tied interest rate swaps that secure the interest rate to maturity, but at any given point, depending where the market interest rate is, could result in an exit fee to liquidate the Royal Bank portfolio.  And similarly, on a number of the Ontario infrastructure financing agreements, there was also exit fees that would require us to liquidate them out of the picture.

 So the reality is that should we want to consider another lender, then there could be again other consequences that -- that, you know, based on the magnitude of the exit fees, you know, you'd have to have a pretty significant spread on interest rate savings to make that still viable.

MR. GARNER:   Okay.  I'm not sure I follow all of that.  Are you saying that unlike other utilities in Ontario, including ones of your size, you are not able to access additional loans from third parties, non-affiliated third parties?

MR. D'AMBOISE:  No, I'm not saying we can't access it, but there could be consequences based on our original arrangements.

MR. GARNER:   I understand.  There is usually some consequence, such as you may pay a higher interest rate if you are subordinating to something else, for instance.  Those are all part of the negotiations.

MR. D'AMBOISE:  There is nothing preventing us, with the exception that as long as they are in subordinated position to our existing lenders.

 If you want a new lender to be, you know, pari passsu on anything, then obviously the existing lenders will have to concede that that’s okay.  And again, typically there is no free lunch.  So if you were to do that, there could be other financial consequences.

 MR. GARNER:  Yes, right.  And of course, if you borrow from the same party like RBC, you wouldn't in essence run into that problem, because it is the same party lending you the money again.  So they’re subordinating to themselves, right?

MR. D’AMBOISE:  Sorry, Mark, in terms of our existing arrangements, because --


MR. GARNER:   Because of the swaps.

MR. D'AMBOISE:  Because of what's in the RBC portfolio is fine currently.  But because OI or Ontario Infrastructure was not happy having to take second place to Royal Bank because everybody likes to be first, they built in their arrangements that the Royal Bank first priority only applies to the debt that was outstanding at the time and as it declines, their security position, first place, notionally would decline.

So Infrastructure Ontario essentially has first place on everything over and above the Royal Bank, and again they have approval rights and our arrangements with them to -- if we were to borrow anywhere else, they will want to make darn sure that their security position is not diluted.

MR. GARNER:   Right.  Are you now eligible to borrow from an Ontario Infrastructure?  You said you weren't at the time, but is that problem resolved or ...

MR. D'AMBOISE:  Yes, I got confirmation yesterday, as a matter of fact, that because of our -- the affiliate issues have been resolved and we are now eligible to participate.

MR. GARNER:   So your plans in the future for increases in rate base, how are they going to be financed debt wise?  I mean, what are those plans?  I'm not saying specifically, but ...

MR. D'AMBOISE:  Yes, two things.  Obviously, because we have the pending building transaction that will occur some time in the foreseeable future, the plan was to debt finance that and currently, you know, we are under- leveraged in terms ever our capital structure.  So we are looking to use that transaction to, you know, basically re-capitalize back to a closer debt level.

And so we are fully expecting to have some difficult negotiations with Infrastructure Ontario.  We understand from some of our peers -- some of my peers that their terms are becoming less and less attractive, other than the interest rates.  And so we're going to have to figure out how best to deal with the new financing in light of where they are.  

 MR. GARNER:  Did you -- when you put in the application, did you get to the stage of investigating financing of the building because -- when you had put in the application?

MR. D'AMBOISE:  No.  What we did -- again, we had an illustrative rate.  I think we used the commercial banking rate because we were assuming that Infrastructure Ontario would not be available to us, and we had talked to our lead bank to just get a rate as to what, you know, theoretically could apply.

 But we understood fully at that point in time that the negotiations would essentially potentially involve, you know, at least the two lenders, which would be existing Infrastructure Ontario and RBC, but we would likely be looking at other sources as well.  

And so I did get, you know, from our current bank a notional acceptance that if we were going to finance a discrete asset that was bringing new security to the table, that they might be willing to consider allowing that lender to take first position only on that new asset.  

 But again, we didn't pursue those negotiations yet, but we certainly appreciate that that's not going to be, you know, that simple to do.

MR. GARNER:   Thank you.  Those are my questions on that.

MR. RICHLER:  Can we move on to another exhibit now?  Anyone have any questions on Exhibit 6, 7, 8?  Going once, going twice.  Exhibit 9?

I believe Staff has some questions.  And I think I'll hand it over to my colleague, Donna Kwan, to ask them.
Questions by Ms. Kwan:  

 MS. KWAN:  Good afternoon, I'm Donna Kwan with Board Staff.  I just have two questions on DBAs.   The first one is for 9 Staff 66.

From the filing requirement dated June 28th, 2012, and subsequent filing requirements, account 1592, a sub-account for HSC, was to record variances up to the effective date of the rate order.

So you disposed of this sub-account in your last cost of service application with the effective date of the rate order being March 1st, 2014.


In your response to this IR, Staff 66, the balance currently being requested for disposition in this application is for January 1st, 2013 to February 28th, 2014.


Can you confirm that the amount for January 1st, 2013 to February 28th, 2014 was not forecasted and included in the already disposed amount in your 2013 rate application?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. D'AMBOISE:  Yes, I don't believe we are in a position to confirm that.  I don't think we had an answer yet prepared for that particular question.


MS. KWAN:  Okay.  Would you be willing to have an undertaking?


MR. D'AMBOISE:  Oh, for sure.


MS. KWAN:  And I have two --


MS. McOUAT:  Hang on, Dawn.  That's JT12.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT12:  TO CONFIRM THAT THE AMOUNT FOR JANUARY 1ST, 2013 TO FEBRUARY 28TH, 2014 WAS NOT FORECASTED AND INCLUDED IN THE ALREADY DISPOSED AMOUNT IN THE 2013 RATE APPLICATION.  ALSO TO EXPLAIN HOW THE DEBIT AMOUNT IS ARRIVED AT.  ALSO, TO CONFIRM THAT YOU ARE PROPOSING TO RECOVER 50 PER CENT OF THE REQUESTED BALANCE.


MS. KWAN:  And I have two further questions related to that as well, so maybe if you can include them as part of your undertaking.


MR. D'AMBOISE:  Yes.


MS. KWAN:  So the account is to record PST savings that are returnable to ratepayers, but you are asking for a recovery of 37,559.


Can you explain how the debit amount is derived?


MR. D'AMBOISE:  Again, we didn't get that far in our answers, and we will investigate and undertake to get you that answer.


MS. KWAN:  Sure, and can you also confirm that you are proposing to recover 50 percent of the requested balance?  In the revised DVA continuity schedule it seems like you've included 100 percent of the balance, whereas in the original application you had included 50 percent.


MS. STEFAN:  We can propose to include that in the undertaking.  However, we will need some assistance, because I think the formulas in that sheet are protected, so we weren't able to make an adjustment.


MS. KWAN:  Okay, sure.  But you are suggesting 50 percent then; right?  Or are you saying you are going to do it as an undertaking?


MS. STEFAN:  We'll do that with the undertaking.


MS. KWAN:  Okay, yeah.


And for my next question, it is on 9-Staff-68.  So in the updated DVA continuity schedule you showed account 1580, CBR, class A and class B sub-accounts separate from the control account, account 1580, WMS.  For the accounting guidance issued for CBR dated July 25th, 2016, if a distributor serves class A customers, it must calculate the volumetric rate riders for non-WMP class B customers outside of the DVA continuity schedule, and you do have class A customers, but you've included this sub-account balance in the DVA continuity schedule for disposition where it's rolled up into the account 1580 WMS control account for disposition.


So can you explain why the sub-account was included as part of the DV continuity schedule instead of being calculated outside of the continuity schedule?


MS. STEFAN:  So while the inclusion of that -- the amount in question in the disposition amount was done in error, its inclusion in the continuity schedule was done to keep a fulsome record of the balances.  However, we can undertake to -- to fix it so that the -- we have a separate rate rider calculating the amount in question, but we would propose to keep it in the continuity schedule, if I'm being clear about the difference there.


MS. KWAN:  Yes.  Okay, but I think to do that you would need to tweak the model so that it doesn't double-count the balance in the disposition.


MS. STEFAN:  Understood.


MS. KWAN:  Okay, so is that going to be an undertaking to update it?


MS. STEFAN:  Yes.


MS. McOUAT:  It's JT13.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT13:  TO UPDATE THE MODEL IN THE CONTINUITY SCHEDULE.


MS. KWAN:  And thank you, those are my questions.


MR. RICHLER:  Any other questions on Exhibit 9?  Any other questions at all?


Okay, well, thank you then.  That concludes the technical conference.  Thanks to everyone from Brantford Power.


MR. D'AMBOISE:  Thank you.


MS. McOUAT:  Just before we conclude, so we'll need -- I guess we need everything before the settlement conference, and you need to check with Bruce.  When should we be expecting to see your responses?


MS. STEFAN:  Is there a preference to get everything all at once, or would it be acceptable to provide some answers one at a time?  One at a time is okay?


MS. McOUAT:  Okay, with a drop-dead date of, I guess, the night before, so that we've got them before we get into the settlement?


MS. STEFAN:  Yes.


MS. McOUAT:  Okay.


[Speaking off-mic]  Sorry, are we on the record still?  Because your microphone is not on.


[Back on mic]  I think we're done, right, unless you -- was your question...


MR. AIKEN:  My question was:  Do we need to talk about the issues?


MS. McOUAT:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.


MS. McOUAT:  But that's with mics off and --


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.


MS. McOUAT:  Yeah.


MR. RICHLER:  [Speaking off-mic]  So we're done.  We're --


MS. McOUAT:  We're done.  Mics off.  So is that it?  Mics off?  We're not on the air.

--- Whereupon the conference concluded at 12:35 p.m.
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